### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### CAROLE M. SIEGLE,

### **Plaintiff/Petitioner**

### **CASE NO.: SC01-1219**

v.

**PROGRESSIVE CONSUMERS INSURANCE COMPANY**, Lower Tribunal No.: 4D00-1503

### Defendant/Respondent.

/

### **PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

MIKE PEACOCK Florida Bar No. 303682 W. CHRISTIAN HOYER Florida Bar No. 162703 JAMES, HOYER, NEWCOMER & SMILJANICH, P.A. One Urban Centre, Suite 147 4830 West Kennedy Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33609-2522 Telephone: 813/286-4100 Facsimile: 813/286-4174

# **

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Petitioner filed her Second Amended Complaint on February 21, 2000. Alleging that Respondent failed to repair Petitioner's vehicle to like kind and quality as required by Respondent's insurance policy contract. (Record on Appeal, hereinafter "Record" p. 142 ¶ 13) Petitioner further alleged that when Progressive returned her vehicle after electing to repair it, her vehicle had diminished in value \$2677.19 because of the accident and repairs. (Record p. 142 ¶13) Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss Petitioner's Complaint which was heard by the trial court on March 8, 2000. The court announced its intention to Dismiss the cause<sup>1</sup> and on March 29, 2000 signed an Order Granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Petitioner's Second Amended Class Action Complaint and Final Order of Dismissal with Prejudice. (Record p. 610-611)

Petitioner appealed the trial court's decision to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The Fourth District Court heard oral argument and entered its original order on May 2, 2001 ruling against Petitioner. Petitioner promptly filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. The Fourth District Court *sua sponte* replaced its order dated May 2, 2001 with an order dated June 12, 2001. The only substantive changes

<sup>1.</sup> See the transcript of the March 8, 2000 hearing in Volume 3 of the Record at p. 13:1-5 and 14-21 of the transcript.

were the removal of the statement "that there is no Florida case squarely on point" and the addition of the citation to <u>Rezevskis v. Aries Ins. Co.</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D725 (Fla. 3d DCA March 14, 2001). The June 12, 2001 order prompted Petitioner's filing an Amended Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Petitioner maintains that Florida law recognizes an insured's right and an insurer's liability to reimburse its policyholder for the loss in value experienced when an insured automobile is damaged, repaired and returned, and has a value less than the pre-accident value. As Petitioner alleged in her Second Amended Complaint, "[a]fter the vehicle was repaired to the best of human ability, SIEGLE discovered that it had not been repaired to 'like kind and quality' as provided for in the contract." (Record p. 142 ¶ 13). Respondent had the opportunity through their contract of adhesion to exclude recovery of diminution in value, but chose not to do so. Diminished value is the loss in value suffered by a vehicle, which is attributable to the fact that certain types of car damage, even when the repair is correctly performed, will leave remaining physical damage and evidence of an accident having occurred and a repair having been made.

Respondent elected to pay to repair the vehicle to "like kind and quality" even though it knew that Petitioner's vehicle had sustained frame damage that could not be fully repaired. Petitioner contends that by electing this option, Respondent became obligated to repair her vehicle and compensate her for any remaining irreparable damage.

By granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, the trial court necessarily found that Respondent's policy *expressly and unambiguously* relieved it of any obligation to pay Petitioner for the entire loss to her vehicle, including the substantial loss resulting from damages *incapable* of repair.

Respondent's insurance policy contract does not specifically address the issue of diminution in value. Additionally, Respondent does not define key words in its policy contract such as "repair," "replace" or "like kind and quality." This failure creates an ambiguous insurance policy contract requiring the court to interpret the contract and give it meaning. Under Florida law, ambiguities in an insurance policy contract are resolved in favor of the broadest coverage. Therefore, the Petitioner and all others similarly situated are entitled to reimbursement for the difference between the value of their vehicles immediately prior to a covered accident and the value of their vehicles after the vehicle is repaired and returned.

#### JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's final opinion affirmed the trial court's order granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss in LT Case No. CACE 99-5529-21,

and certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance:

"Does an automobile collision policy which provides that the insurer must repair or replace the damaged vehicle 'with other of like kind and quality' obligate the insurer to compensate the insured in money for any diminution in market value after the insurer completes a first-rate repair which returns the vehicle to its pre-accident level of performance, appearance and function?"

The jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court is invoked pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) which permits a party to seek review of a district court of appeal's decision that "pass[es] upon a question certified to be of great public importance."

Appellate review of an order dismissing a complaint is limited to whether the complaint states a cause of action and is therefore a question of law. <u>W.R. Townsend</u> <u>Contracting, Inc. v. Jensen Civil Const., Inc.</u>, 728 So. 2d 297, 300 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999). The lower court's rulings on matters of law are subject to *de novo* review on appeal. <u>Id</u>. at 300, citing <u>Sarkis v. Pafford Oil Co., Inc.</u>, 697 So. 2d 524, 526 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1997)

### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE CONCEPT OF DIMINISHED VALUE IS NEITHER UNIQUE NOR FOREIGN TO AMERICAN JURISPRUDENCE OR FLORIDA JURISPRUDENCE.

# A. Florida law recognizes that when an insurer elects to repair or replace to like kind and quality, the vehicle must be restored to its pre-loss appearance, function and value.

Florida law has specifically addressed the issue of diminished value. Under the

heading "Election by Insurer to Repair, Rebuild, or Replace Insured Property," Florida

Jurisprudence reads in pertinent part:

If there has been a timely and unequivocal exercise by the insurer of its option to repair, **the insurer becomes obligated to so restore the damaged property that when it is returned to the insured, the function, appearance, and value are substantially the same as they were immediately prior to the loss.** Thus, where proposed repairs would not restore a vehicle to substantially the value and condition existing prior to accident, and the insurer seeks a release of liability for any diminution in the value of the vehicle, the insured may justifiably refuse the proposed repairs and release and is entitled to damages for the loss of the vehicle.

31A Fla.Jur.2d Insurance § 3389 (1996) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Florida courts have acknowledged that actual damages may exist where an

insurer offers to repair the insured's covered vehicle, but the repairs cannot restore the

vehicle to its pre-loss value. See Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Green, 220 So. 2d 29 (Fla.

1st DCA 1969) and Arch Roberts & Co. v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co., 305 So. 2d 882

(Fla.1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1974). Furthermore, the Fourth District recognized that there may be a reduction in the market value of an automobile simply because it had been in a collision, and specifically referred to this reduction as "diminished value." <u>Fort</u> Lauderdale Lincoln Mercury, Inc. v. Corgnati, 715 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998).

The insured's vehicle in <u>Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Green</u>, was driven into a telephone pole which broke and fell across the top of the insured's new Lincoln Continental. <u>Green</u>, 220 So. 2d at 29. The insurance company elected to repair the vehicle rather than replace it. The applicable insurance contract provided that:

The Company shall not be liable beyond the actual cash value of the property insured at the time any loss or damage occurs, and such loss or damage shall be ascertained accordingly with proper deduction or depreciation however caused . . . and shall in no event exceed what it would then cost to repair or replace the property, or such parts thereof as may be damaged with other of the like kind and quality.

. . . .

The Company may at its option, either repair or replace any part or all of the property upon which loss is claimed or pay to the assured in money the full amount of such loss as determined in accordance with the provisions of this policy, subject however, to such deduction, if any, as may be applicable thereto.

Pursuant to the above cited policy, the insurer chose to repair the vehicle and

sought to exact a release from the insured. The insurance company's position was that

"upon electing to repair, its obligation was satisfied by having the car repaired." Id.

at 32. However, the Green Court ruled in favor of the insured finding that:

The evidence here was that this almost new car had sustained a major accident and that Green (the insured) was justified in refusing to authorize the insurance company to have North Florida Motors repair same because North Florida admitted that its proposed repairs would not restore the car to substantially the value and condition existing prior to the accident. <u>Id</u>.

The trial court had heard testimony from automobile repairmen that the vehicle "could be rebuilt or repaired but it would never be the same car as before the accident." <u>Id</u>. at 31.

In <u>Arch Roberts and Co. v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co., supra</u>, the court applied the same law but reached a different result based on the actions of the insurance company. The insurance company in <u>Arch</u> offered to repair the damaged vehicle pursuant to the same policy option cited in <u>Green</u>. However, in <u>Arch</u>, the company offered to repair the vehicle and offered to pay "any overlooked or unforeseen damages." <u>Id</u>. at 883. The insured refused to allow the insurance company to repair the vehicle as in <u>Green</u>. The <u>Arch</u> Court ruled in favor of the insurance company finding that:

Under the policy, Respondent (Auto-Owners) had the option to repair the automobile which it elected to do. Upon making that election it was then obligated to restore it to substantilly [sic] the same condition as to function, appearance and value as existed before the accident.

# Should it fail to do so, it would then be liable to the owner for its value immediately prior to the accident.

Id. at 884 (emphasis added).

In 1998, the Fourth District specifically addressed the issue of a vehicle's "diminished value" resulting from its involvement in an accident and the consequential damages arising therefrom. Fort Lauderdale Lincoln Mercury, Inc. v. Corgnati, supra. Corgnati purchased a used automobile from Lauderdale Lincoln Mercury with the assurance that the automobile had not been in an accident. After Corgnati purchased the automobile, he learned that the automobile had been in an accident and had consequently been repainted. Corgnati sued Lauderdale Lincoln Mercury under Florida's Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act for damages. Corgnati provided testimony regarding the market value of the vehicle assuming it had not been involved in an accident, but failed to provide testimony regarding the value of the vehicle he actually received. The <u>Corgnati</u> court found that Corgnati "failed to sustain his burden of demonstrating the market value of the car, a limited production vehicle, in its diminished value, assuming an accident, in order for the trial court to ascertain his actual damages." Corgnati, supra at 314 (emphasis added). While the court returned the case to the trial court for a determination of damages, it upheld the trial court's finding that Lauderdale Lincoln Mercury was liable to Corgnati for the difference in market value of an automobile not involved in an accident as compared to the automobile Corgnati received, which was involved in an accident.

Petitioner maintains that Florida law requires an automobile insurance company to restore the insured vehicle to its appearance, function and value that it had immediately prior to a covered accident. This value, as demonstrated by the aforementioned case law, includes any value by which the vehicle is diminished after having been involved in an accident; repaired with other of like kind and quality; and returned to the insured.

# **B.** The Florida Department of Insurance recognizes the insurer's duty to compensate its insureds for loss in value.

The Florida Department of Insurance has specifically addressed the issue of an insurance company's liability for payment of diminished value in Informational Bulletin 84-270 issued on December 31, 1984. (Record p. 498) Then Insurance Commissioner Bill Gunter issued the Bulletin to "All Companies Authorized to Write Motor Vehicle (Automobile) Insurance in Florida." The Bulletin reads in pertinent part:

The responsibility of the insurance company for automobile accident damages is the substantial restoration of the automobile as to function, appearance, and value. The owner has not been properly indemnified unless there is no diminution in value of the automobile as it was before the damage and as it is after repairs. (Emphasis added.) Upon reading Bulletin 84-270, one cannot dispute Florida's policy regarding an insurance company's liability for payment of diminished value. As previously discussed, Respondent uses its model policy in each state but makes state specific changes based on specific laws and regulations in effect in the particular state. While the model policy contract includes a specific exclusion for diminished value liability, Respondent removed the limit of liability for diminished value in its Florida policy contract. It is this contract that is at issue in the cause before this Court. The logical inference drawn from Respondent's removal of the specific exclusion of diminished value liability value liability is that Florida requires, and therefore Respondent provides, diminished value recovery to its Florida policyholders.

# C. The majority of jurisdictions in the United States recognize the insurer's duty to compensate the insured for diminution in value experienced after the vehicle is repaired and returned.

Many jurisdictions nationwide have addressed the issue of whether an insurer is responsible to the insured for loss of value in the vehicle when the insurer elects to repair the vehicle with other of like kind and quality. The majority of the jurisdictions have held that the insurer *is* required to restore the insured's vehicle to its pre-loss value when the insurer elects to repair the vehicle with other of like kind and quality.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2 &</sup>lt;u>See</u> Delledone v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 621 A. 2d 350, 353 (Del. 1992); MFA Ins. Co. v. Citizens Nat'l Bank of Hope, 545 S.W.2d 70, 71-72 (Ark. 1977); U.S. Surgical Corp. v. U.S. Fire Ins. Co., 1990 WL 277471 (Conn. Super. 1990); Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. Rowland, 351 S.E.2d 650, 652 (Ga. Ct. App. 1986); Dodson Aviation, Inc. v. Rollins, Burdick,

The Superior Court of Delaware interpreted the same policy language at issue in the

case before this Court regarding the election to repair with other of like

kind and quality in Delledone v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 621 A.2d 350, 353

(Del. 1992) and reasoned as follows:

It is the view of this Court that the susceptibility of the policy language in dispute in the instant case to two or more reasonable interpretations is evidenced by the development of two distinct lines of authority in the interpretation of similar policy language. In one camp of construction, the courts have held that policy language requiring the insurer to "repair or replace" the property "with like kind and quality" limits the insurer's duty to repair the vehicle to substantially the same physical/operating condition as before the damage. (Citations omitted) This Court finds the better view to be that of the majority of jurisdictions, however, which hold that an insurer's provision to "repair or replace" a vehicle or its parts with "like kind and quality," requires that the insurer pay for diminution in value. (Citations omitted) The underlying rationale for these decisions is essentially that in the context of an insurance contract, the words "repair or replace" with "like kind and quality" mean the restoration of the vehicle to substantially the same condition as prior to the damage; and restoration to such condition can not be said to have been effected if the repairs fail to render the vehicle as valuable as before.

Hunter of Kansas, Inc., 807 P.2d 1319, 1320 (Kan. Ct. App. 1991); Romco, Inc. v. Broussard, 528 So. 2d 231, 234 (La. App. 3d Cir. 1988); Potomac Ins. Co. v. Wilkinson, 57 So. 2d 158, 160 (Miss. 1952); Williams v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. Of Missouri, 299 S.W.2d 587, 589 (Mo. Ct. App. 1957); Edwards v. Maryland Motorcar Ins. Co., 197 N.Y.S. 460, 461 (NY S. Ct., App. Div. 1922); Dunmire Motor Co. v. Oregon Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 114 P.2d 1005, 1009 (Ore. 1941); Campbell v. Calvert Fire Ins. Co., 109 S.E.2d 572, 576-577(S.C. 1959); Grubbs v. Foremost Ins. Co., 141 N.W.2d 777, 779 (S.D. 1966); and Senter v. Tennessee Farmers Mut. Ins. Co., 702 S.W.2d 175, 178 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1985).

The Supreme Court in South Carolina addressed the same issues currently

before this Court and held that:

[W]here there is a partial loss and the automobile can be repaired and restored to its former condition and value, the cost of repairs is the measure of liability, less any deductible sum specified in the policy. But if, despite such repairs, there yet remains a loss in actual value, estimated at the collision date, the insured is entitled to compensation for such deficiency.

Campbell v. Calvert Fire Ins. Co., 109 S.E.2d 572, 576-577 (S.C. 1959).

# D. The Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal decisions on this issue are not as well-reasoned as the majority position.

The Third District Court of Appeal addressed the issue of "diminished value"

in <u>Rezevskis v. Aries Ins. Co.</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D275, (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA March 14, 2001). The <u>Rezevskis</u> court did not provide an analysis of the requirement to "repair or replace with like kind and quality." Neither did the court address the notion that Florida law requires the insured to restore a vehicle to substantially the same appearance, condition and value when the insured elects to repair the vehicle. Thus the <u>Rezevskis</u> case provides little guidance.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in its opinion in the case before this Court acknowledged that the resolution of the meaning of "repair or replace with like kind and quality" is a matter of great public importance as it effects nearly every citizen in the state of Florida carrying property insurance coverage. However, Petitioner submits that the position taken by a majority of other jurisdictions is the better reasoned result.

In the Fourth District Court's analysis of the <u>Arch Roberts</u> and <u>Green</u> cases discussed above, the court focused upon the fact that these cases "did not require the panel to decide whether the insurer must repair and compensate for any inherent diminished value." (Order p. 3) However, the significance of <u>Arch Roberts</u> and <u>Green</u> is the courts (and in <u>Arch Roberts</u> the parties') recognition that the contractual language allowing the company to elect to repair the vehicle with that of like kind and quality requires the restoration of the vehicle as to appearance, condition and **value**.

The Fourth District Court then analyzed the meaning of the words repair, kind, quality and accident, but never addresses the term "like" nor the Respondent's agreement to "pay for the loss to your insured vehicle." (Record p. 162) The phraseology being interpreted in the insurance policy contract is "like kind and quality." The term "like" qualifies the phrase "kind and quality." <u>Websters New American Dictionary</u>, 1995, defines the term "like" as "similar, alike, analogous, comparable, parallel, uniform." If the value of the repaired vehicle is diminished from its pre-loss value, then the repair did not make the vehicle analogous, alike or parallel to the vehicle prior to the accident. Therefore, the insurer has not repaired the vehicle to like kind and quality or returned the vehicle to its pre-loss condition.

Finally, the Fourth District Court acknowledges that the Respondent's insurance policy allows the company to either (1) pay the actual cash value of the damaged property, (2) replace the property with other of like kind and quality, or (3) repair the property with other of like kind and quality. However, to adopt the Fourth District Court's reasoning, only two of the three options would fully restore the insured to his pre-loss condition. The only option above that would not fully restore the insured to his or her pre-loss condition, under the Fourth District Court's theory, is the option to repair the vehicle to like kind and quality. The better reasoned approach and interpretation is that the insured must be restored to his or her pre-loss condition under any of the insurer's options.

### II. PROGRESSIVE'S POSITION ON DIMINISHED VALUE

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