#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-1219

#### CAROLE M. SIEGLE,

Petitioner,

V.

#### PROGRESSIVE CONSUMERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

On Review of a Question Certified by the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida to be of Great Public Importance

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PROGRESSIVE CONSUMERS INSURANCE COMPANY

Francis A. Anania, Esq.
Douglas H. Stein, Esq.
ANANIA, BANDKLAYDER, BLACKWELL
BAUMGARTEN & TORRICELLA
Attorneys for Appellee
4300 Bank of America Tower
100 Southeast Second Street
Miami, Florida 33131-2144
Telephone: (305) 373-4900
Facsimile: (305) 373-6914

##

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The certified question should be answered in the negative because: (1) Progressive's insurance policy does not contain any provision which affords Siegle coverage for the "inherent diminished value" of her properly repaired vehicle; (2) the plain and unambiguous language of the policy provides that, when a covered vehicle has been damaged in an accident, Progressive is permitted to pay to repair the property damage; (3) courts must construe insurance contracts in accordance with their plain language; (4) courts cannot create insurance coverage where, as here, the plain language of the policy does not provide coverage; (5) Florida courts consistently have rejected insureds' claims for "inherent diminished value;" (6) contrary to Siegle's contention, the absence of a specific exclusion for the "inherent diminished value" of

a vehicle does not create coverage, particularly where, as in this case, such a claim plainly falls outside the scope of the insuring provisions of the policy; and (7) the Progressive policy is not ambiguous and does not provide for the payment of all actual losses to a vehicle. Indeed, this Court cannot adopt Siegle's contention (*i.e.*, that Progressive has an obligation to pay for "inherent diminished value" of a properly repaired vehicle) without substantially rewriting the policy. Accordingly, the certified question should be answered in the negative.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"Construction of the insurance contract and the determination of whether Florida law requires the insurer to provide coverage for diminished value are questions of law subject to de novo review on appeal." *Siegle v. Progressive Consumers Ins. Co.*, 26 Fla. L. Week. D1506, 1506 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA June 13, 2001).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE BECAUSE THE PLAIN AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE POLICY EXPRESSLY NEGATES SIEGLE'S CONTENTION THAT PROGRESSIVE HAS AN OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE HER FOR THE SO-CALLED "INHERENT DIMINISHED VALUE" OF HER PROPERLY REPAIRED VEHICLE.

The certified question should be answered in the negative because the plain and unambiguous language of the Progressive policy makes it clear that the policy does not provide coverage for the so-called "inherent diminished value" of a properly repaired vehicle.<sup>3</sup> Instead, the policy expressly provides that, when a covered vehicle has been damaged in an accident, Progressive is permitted to pay Siegle either: (1) the amount necessary to repair the damaged property with parts of "like kind and quality less the applicable deductible;" **or** (2) the "actual cash value ["ACV"] of the stolen or damaged [vehicle] less the applicable deductible." (R. 162). Progressive indisputably paid the amount necessary to properly repair the property damage to Siegle's vehicle and, in doing so, fully discharged its contractual and indemnity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>It is well-settled that the unambiguous terms of an insurance contract and not the "reasonable expectations" of the insured govern the scope of coverage under the contract. *See, e.g., Deni Assocs. of Fla., Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.,* 711 So. 2d 1135, 1140 (Fla. 1998)(wherein the Supreme Court of Florida rejected the doctrine of using an insured's "reasonable expectations" to dictate the scope of coverage, noting that application of that doctrine to an unambiguous provision [in an insurance contract] would be to rewrite the contract and the basis upon which the premiums were charged" and would lead to uncertainty and unnecessary litigation").

obligations to Siegle. *Id.* (wherein Siegle acknowledges that she is not challenging the adequacy of the repairs and that her claim for inherent diminished value "does not include [any] loss which may have resulted from improper and/or incomplete repairs").

Indeed, Florida courts and regulators have made it clear that where, as here, an automobile insurer pays to repair a vehicle, **diminished value is not a consideration**. In a November 4, 1997 Legal Memorandum on the issue of "Diminution of Value," for example, John R. Dunphy of the Florida Department of Insurance and Treasurer addressed the issue raised by Siegle and concluded as follows:

First party claims are subject to contract law rather than tort law. As such, whether diminished value is covered on first party claims is a function of the policy language. Most physical damage policies provide for the insurer to be able to satisfy a claim through repair, replacement, or payment of the actual cash value of the insured property before the accident. If the repair option is elected, the policy ordinarily limits the insurer's liability to the cost of repair. In this circumstance, the issue becomes the adequacy of the repair and diminished value is not a consideration.

(R. 573).<sup>4</sup> The courts of Florida consistently have maintained this position.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Although an insurer is not obligated to pay for the "diminished value" of a properly repaired vehicle in response to a **first party claim**, the owner of a vehicle may seek damages in tort for lost value from a tortfeasor who has caused damage to the vehicle. *See McHale v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 409 So. 2d 238, 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)("In such cases, the cost of the repairs made plus the diminution in value will ordinarily be the proper measure of damages..."). In all likelihood, the latter concept forms the basis for the **1984 Insurance Bulletin upon which Siegle relies** (I.B. 9-10), given that the author of the Bulletin uses the term "damages," rather than "loss," in referring to an insurer's indemnity obligation. To the extent that **the 1984 Bulletin** refers to **third party claims**, it accurately reflects the well-settled **tort-based** rule that "the cost of repairs plus the diminution in value will ordinarily be the

In *Rezevskis v. Aries Insurance Co.*, 784 So. 2d 472 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), the plaintiff sued his insurer for "the diminished value of his car" which had been damaged in a hurricane. The insurance policy provisions at issue were virtually identical to those in the Progressive policy. The trial court dismissed the complaint with prejudice, and the plaintiff appealed. Upon affirming the dismissal, the Third District held:

Pursuant to the "repair or replace" limitation of liability in the Aries policy, the insurer's responsibility is limited to the amount necessary to return the car to substantially the same condition as before the loss. Nowhere does that obligation include liability for loss due to "a stigma on resale resulting from 'market psychology' that a vehicle that has been damaged and repaired is worth less than a similar one that has never been damaged." The Aries policy's express provision that the insurer's responsibility is limited to the amount necessary to "repair or replace" permits no other reasonable interpretation. Thus, the diminished value resulting from damage not susceptible to repair or replacement does not fall within the insurer's obligations under the policy.

Id. at 474 (citation omitted).

Similarly, in *Morrison v. Allstate Indemnity Co.*, 1999 WL 817660 (M.D. Fla. 1999), *rev'd on other grounds*, 228 F.3d 1255 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000), the plaintiffs sued several automobile insurers, claiming that the physical damage portions of their policies included the diminished value of their vehicles subsequent to repair. In support of their contention, the plaintiffs cited to policy language which obligated the insurers to "fully compensate the insured for all loss to a covered vehicle, subject only to any specified limitations of liability." *Id.* at \*2. The plaintiffs reasoned that, since

proper measure of damages." *Id.* at 439; *Travelers Indem. Co. v. Skyway Marine, Inc.*, 251 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971).

there was no provision in the policies which expressly excluded or limited that indemnity obligation, as it relates to "diminished value," such losses are compensable. Id. The insurers moved to dismiss on the ground that the plain language of their policies expressly permitted them to pay the insureds "the lesser of the actual cash value of the vehicle at the time of the loss or [the cost of] repairing the vehicle or any of its parts [with parts] of like kind and quality." *Id.* The insurers further argued that, absent express policy language to the contrary, they did not have an additional and independent obligation to pay the plaintiffs for any diminution in value that may have resulted from the proper performance of those repairs. The federal district court agreed and granted the insurers' motions to dismiss. The court emphasized that, without a clear dictate from a Florida court to the contrary, it was unwilling to conclude that "Florida law automatically imposes [diminished value] coverage on insurance policies in the absence of a specific agreement [giving rise to such coverage]." *Id.* The court noted that to hold otherwise would violate the well-established principle that "[i]t is not within the purview of the courts to create insurance coverage where none exists on the face of the insurance contract." *Id.* (citing *Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v.* Fallaro, 597 So. 2d 818 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)).

In *Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Parkman*, 300 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1974), the court reached a similar result. In that case, an insured sued his insurer for damages resulting from the loss of use of his vehicle during the time the vehicle underwent repairs following a collision. As in this case, the insured did not question the adequacy of the repair. Instead, the only issue was the plaintiff's purported

entitlement to derivative damages. The *Parkman* court held that, under an insurance policy which provides the insurer with an option to repair, "the insured is not entitled to recover for the loss of use of the vehicle if the insurer pays in money or repairs the damage within a reasonable time." *Id.* at 285. In reaching its decision, the court specifically held that, when an insurer opts to repair a damaged vehicle, it satisfies its obligation when it pays for the cost of repair:

The obligation to repair is not fulfilled until the insurer has paid the cost of repair, less any deduction provided in the policy, or has placed the insured in possession of the repaired vehicle.

*Id.* at 285. Stated otherwise, the court held that an insurer which properly repairs an insured's vehicle fully discharges its contractual obligation under the insurance policy, and is not liable for additional derivative monetary losses resulting from the damage.<sup>5</sup>

Numerous courts in other jurisdictions have reached the same result in analogous factual contexts. In *Ray v. Farmers Insurance Exchange*, 200 Cal. App. 3d 1411, 246 Cal. Rptr. 593 (1988), for example, an insured sued his automobile insurer to recover the alleged diminution in market value that his vehicle suffered by virtue of the fact that it had been in an accident and was a "repaired, wrecked car." The applicable policy obligated the insurer to pay either the actual cash value of the vehicle or the amount necessary to repair the damage to the vehicle. The trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The *Parkman* court did hold that if the insurer does not repair the vehicle within a reasonable time, the insured may have a cause of action sounding in tort, not contract. *Id.* at 285.

entered a judgment based upon a jury verdict in favor of the insurer and the appellate court affirmed. The court reasoned as follows:

To hold Farmers [i.e., the insurer] liable for the automobile's diminution in value would make Farmers an insurer of the automobile's cash value in virtually all cases and would render essentially meaningless [Farmers'] clear right to elect to repair rather than pay the actual cash value at the time of the loss. . . The policy language unambiguously reserves to Farmers the right to elect the most economical method of paying claims. [The insured's] strained interpretation would gut that right and hold Farmers to a risk it did not contemplate, [and] one for which [the insured] [did not pay]. . . [W]e will not rewrite an otherwise unambiguous limitation of collision coverage to provide for a risk not bargained for.

Id. at 596. See also General Accident Fire & Life Assur. Corp. v. Judd, 400 S.W.2d 685, 687 (Ky. App. Ct. 1966) (wherein the court held that "the option to repair [a] vehicle with parts of like kind and quality does not require a restoration of **value** [such that a diminution in value relating to the repair also would be compensable]; it requires only a restoration of **physical condition**").

Similarly, in *Bickel v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co.*, 143 S.E.2d 903 (Va. 1965), the Supreme Court of Virginia rejected an insured's attempt to obtain diminished value damages over and above the cost of repair. In support of its conclusion, the court emphasized that "[t]he contract of insurance does not so provide [i.e., for diminished value]. [Thus,] to apply such a measure of damages would be arbitrarily reading out of the policy the right of the [insurer] to make repairs or replace the damaged part with materials of like kind and quality." *Id.* at 906. *See also Johnson v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 754 P.2d 330, 331 (Ariz. App. Ct.

1988) (wherein the court also rejected an insured's attempt to recover diminished value damages over and above the cost of repairs, noting that "[n]owhere in the policy does there appear any language which requires [the insurer] either to restore the vehicle to its pre-accident condition or to pay the insured the difference in value after the accident as opposed to before").

In *Munoz v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, Case No. 9906-2855 (Pa. 1<sup>st</sup> Jud. Dist. Ct. Nov. 15, 1999), *aff'd*, Case No. 3475 EDA 1999 (Pa. Super. Ct. July 3, 2000), the court rejected a claim for diminution in value damages and dismissed a class action complaint similar to Siegle's complaint, notwithstanding the fact that Pennsylvania, unlike Florida, has adopted the "reasonable expectations doctrine." The *Munoz* court held that:

[Plaintiff's] expectations are not reasonable . . . [P]ayment [for diminished value] would not be the norm and cannot be the basis for a *reasonable* expectation among the public. [Plaintiff] does not have the right to expect that she [will] receive something of comparable value in return for her premium payment . . . This she received when her car was repaired following her accident.

Id. at 4. The court based its decision to reject the plaintiff's "diminished value" claim and its conclusion that "the [insurer] did not breach [its] contractual duty," in part, on the "reasonings" of the Virginia Supreme Court in *Bickel. See also Roth v. Amica Mut. Ins. Co.*, Case No. 98-3551 (Mass. Sup. Ct. Comm., Sept. 3, 1999)(wherein the court held that an insurer's right to pay the cost to repair a damaged vehicle does not include an obligation to reimburse the insured for "diminution in market value due to the alleged stigma of [having been in an] accident").

Like the insurers in Morrison, Parkman, Bickel, Munoz, Roth, Ray, and Johnson, Progressive indisputably had an obligation, under the plain language of its policy, to pay the amount necessary to repair the property damage to Siegle's vehicle. Progressive discharged that obligation and the repairs were fully and properly performed. Nonetheless, like the insureds in the foregoing cases, Siegle argues that Progressive had an obligation to go beyond payment for those repairs and compensate her for the purported "diminution in value" attributable to those repairs. However, Siegle cannot point to any specific language in the policy that provides for such coverage. Instead, she seeks to infer that indemnity obligation from general policy language to the effect that Progressive "will pay for loss to a covered vehicle" and the absence of any language expressly limiting or excluding coverage for diminished value. As the courts in Morrison, Parkman, Bickel, Munoz, Roth, Johnson, and Ray properly recognized, however, such an argument cannot give rise to coverage, as a matter of law, without imposing on Progressive a risk that it did not agree to accept and conferring a benefit on Siegle for which she did not pay a premium.

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